### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ROBERT L. MENDENHALL, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND SUNRIDGE CORPORATION, A NEVADA CORPORATION,

Appellants,

VS.

RONALD TASSINARI, AN INDIVIDUAL: AND AMERICAN VANTAGE BROWNSTONE, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed 680 07 2016 02:44 p.m. Case No.: Tracie K. Lindeman

Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Rob **Bare Presiding** 

### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

### Marquis Aurbach Coffing

Avece M. Higbee, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 3739 Micah S. Echols, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 8437

Adele V. Karoum, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 11172 10001 Park Run Drive

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

#### III. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS BASED ON CLAIM PRECLUSION WHEN THE PARTIES OR THEIR PRIVIES WERE NOT THE SAME IN THE TWO LAWSUITS.
- B. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS BASED ON CLAIM PRECLUSION WHEN THE FRAUD CLAIMS MADE IN THE SECOND LAWSUIT COULD NOT HAVE BEEN MADE IN THE FIRST LAWSUIT.
- C. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS BASED ON CLAIM PRECLUSION WHEN THE FRAUD CLAIMS MADE IN THE SECOND LAWSUIT WERE NOT COMPULSORY CLAIMS BUT PERMISSIVE CLAIMS.
- D. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO CONSIDER THAT NRCP 60(b) AUTHORIZES AN INDEPENDENT ACTION BASED UPON FRAUD.

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal challenges the District Court's dismissal order that erroneously applied claim preclusion principles. JA 2:239–247. The underlying facts of this litigation involve a term sheet for the creation of a limited liability company to develop a casino in Carson Valley, Douglas County, Nevada "within a few miles of Carson City and Lake Tahoe, Nevada and forty-five minutes from Reno, Nevada." JA 2:182. After the other parties performed their obligations under the term sheet, Mendenhall had the option to

secure his interest in the LLC by contributing 46 acres of real property owned by Sunridge and valued at \$15,000,000. *Id.* While the term sheet calls for the contribution of \$7,000,000 by "Other Investor(s)," this contribution was never made, despite affirmative representations, and a signature on the term sheet. JA 2:131–167, 183. After discovery was nearly complete in the first lawsuit, Mendenhall and Sunridge discovered that Tassinari had actually signed the term sheet for the "Other Investor(s)," even though representations were continually made that there were Canadian investors who would contribute the required \$7,000,000. JA 2:131–167. Although Mendenhall and Sunridge attempted to bring this information to Judge Israel's attention in the first lawsuit through a motion to amend, Judge Israel did not rule on the pending motion and, instead, enforced an offer of judgment between Mendenhall/Sunridge and the two Brownstone entities that were the plaintiffs in the first lawsuit, Brownstone Gold Town, LLC and Brownstone Gold Town CV, LLC (collectively "the Brownstone entities"). JA 1:30–36, 41–96, 105–110. In dismissing the first lawsuit, Judge Israel commented that Mendenhall and Sunridge would have to seek a remedy for their fraud claims in "another lawsuit." JA 2:206-207. In the second lawsuit, Plaintiffs, Mendenhall and Sunridge, alleged fraud claims against Tassinari and AVB, neither of which were parties to the first lawsuit. JA 1:1–10. However, Judge Bare dismissed the second lawsuit based upon

claim preclusion and erroneously concluded that Plaintiffs could have made the fraud claims against these different parties in the first lawsuit. JA 2:239–247.

Plaintiffs first assign error to the District Court's determination that Tassinari and AVB are privies to the plaintiffs in the first lawsuit, the two Brownstone entities. JA 2:244-245. The Brownstone entities from the first lawsuit were not parties to the second lawsuit. Id. Defendants in the second lawsuit, from which this appeal arises, are only Tassinari and AVB. JA 1:1–10. Without any discovery, the District Court found that AVB "managed, led, owned, and acted on behalf of . . . " the two Brownstone entities. JA 2:245, ¶5. Similarly, the District Court found that Tassinari also "managed, led, and acted on behalf of . . ." the two Brownstone entities. JA 2:244, ¶4. Yet, an action involving a subsidiary does not automatically equate to an action against the parent company. See Hartsel Springs Ranch of Colorado, Inc. v. Bluegreen Corp., 296 F.3d 982, 987 (10th Cir. 2002). And, Nevada law provides that "[a]n agent who fraudulently makes representations is liable in tort to the injured person although the fraud occurs in a transaction on behalf of the principal." Nev-Tex Oil and Gas v. Precision Rolled Products, 105 Nev. 685, 685, 782 P.2d 1311, 1311 (1989). At a minimum, the District Court should have allowed discovery into these issues before making findings based upon Defendants' unsupported representations. Cf. Stubbs v. Strickland, 297 P.3d

326, 328–329 (Nev. 2013) (requiring a district court to accept all factual allegations as true and draw all inferences in favor of the plaintiff). Therefore, due to the District Court's improper preclusion analysis on privity, this Court should reverse the District Court's dismissal order and allow this case to continue on remand against Tassinari and AVB.

Second, the District Court erred by concluding under a claim preclusion analysis that Plaintiffs could have alleged their fraud claims in the first lawsuit, even though Defendants' fraud was not discovered until after an offer of judgment was already served and later accepted by the Brownstone entities. JA 1:37–40; JA 2:131–167. Indeed, in the first lawsuit, Mendenhall and Sunridge attempted to amend their answer to include fraud claims against Tassinari and AVB. JA 1:41–96. However, Judge Israel never reached a decision on the motion to amend and, instead, declared the entire first lawsuit settled and dismissed, despite the proposed fraud claims against Tassinari and AVB. JA 2:206–207. Judge Israel commented that Mendenhall and Sunridge would have to seek a remedy for their fraud claims in "another lawsuit." *Id.* 

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Some of the pleadings and hearing transcripts from the first lawsuit were not made a part of the record for the second lawsuit. JA 2:189–237. Accordingly, Plaintiffs have not attempted to include items in the record before this Court from the first lawsuit that were not actually filed in the second lawsuit. *See* NRAP 10(a)&(b)(1); *Carson Ready Mix, Inc. v. First Nat'l Bank of Nevada*, 97 Nev. 474, 476, 635 P.2d 276, 277 (1981) ("We cannot consider matters not properly appearing in the record on appeal.").

Additionally, in dismissing Plaintiffs' lawsuit, the District Court believed Defendants' counsel's argument that Plaintiffs should have discovered the fraud months earlier, before Tassinari made the stunning admission in his deposition that he signed the term sheet not only on behalf of AVB, but also for the nonexistent "Other Investor(s)." JA 2:131–167, 239–247. Since Plaintiffs never had an opportunity, they could not have possibly asserted their fraud claims against Tassinari and AVB in the first lawsuit. At a minimum, these were factual issues that the District Court should have reserved for trial. See Siragusa v. Brown, 114 Nev. 1384, 1391, 971 P.2d 801, 806 (1998) ("When the plaintiff knew or in the exercise of proper diligence should have known of the facts constituting the elements of his cause of action is a question of fact for the trier of fact."); Hidden Wells Ranch, Inc. v. Strip Realty, Inc., 83 Nev. 143, 145, 425 P.2d 599, 601 (1967) ("[T]he trial judge may not in granting summary judgment pass upon the credibility or weight of the opposing affidavits or evidence."). Therefore, this Court should reverse the District Court's order dismissing the second lawsuit.

Third, the District Court erred by granting Defendants' motion to dismiss based on claim preclusion when the claims brought in the second lawsuit were not compulsory claims but permissive claims. The District Court's dismissal order essentially treats Plaintiffs' fraud claims in the instant case as though they

were compulsory claims in the first lawsuit. However, "[t]he general rule is that a claim must have matured before it will be subject to the compulsory counterclaim rule." *Bennett v. Fid. & Deposit Co. of Maryland*, 98 Nev. 449, 453, 652 P.2d 1178, 1181 (1982). Additionally, since Mendenhall and Sunridge had no legal basis to file the fraud claims against Tassinari and AVB at the outset of the first lawsuit, the second lawsuit should have continued. *See Allied Fire Prot. v. Diede Constr., Inc.*, 127 Cal.App.4th 150, 155 (2005) ("The general rule that a judgment is conclusive as to matters that could have been litigated does not apply to new rights acquired pending the action which might have been, but which were not, required to be litigated."). On this additional basis, the Court should reverse the District Court's dismissal order and allow Plaintiffs to prosecute their fraud claims in the District Court.

Finally, the District Court erred by failing to consider that NRCP 60(b) authorizes an independent action based upon fraud. NRCP 60(b) specifically states, "This rule does not limit the power of a court to entertain an independent action to relieve a party from a judgment, order, or proceeding, or to set aside a judgment for fraud upon the court." This Court has recently addressed independent actions under NRCP 60(b) in *Bonnell v. Lawrence*, 282 P.3d 712 (Nev. 2012). However, the record does not reflect that the District Court considered *Bonnell* before dismissing Plaintiffs' complaint. To the extent that

this Court does not reverse the District Court's dismissal order on some other basis, the Court should vacate the dismissal order and remand for the District Court to consider *Bonnell* in light of the facts of this case.

### V. <u>STANDARDS OF REVIEW</u>

#### A. STANDARDS FOR REVIEWING DISMISSAL ORDERS.

"A district court order granting an NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss is subject to rigorous appellate review." *Sanchez v. Wal-Mart Stores*, 125 Nev. 818, 823, 221 P.3d 1276, 1280 (2009). A district court's order granting a motion to dismiss is reviewed de novo. *Pack v. LaTourette*, 128 Nev. 264, 267, 277 P.3d 1246, 1248 (2012). A complaint should not be dismissed unless "it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle [the plaintiff] to relief." *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008).

## B. STANDARDS FOR REVIEWING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ORDERS.

This Court reviews a district court's dismissal order based upon preclusion under the summary judgment standard when the district court considers documents attached to either the complaint or the motion to dismiss briefs. *Bonnell*, 282 P.3d at 715–716. This Court reviews a district court's order granting summary judgment de novo, without deference to the findings of

the district court. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). "[W]hen reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the evidence, and any reasonable inferences drawn from it, must be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Id.*, 121 Nev. at 729, 121 P.3d at 1029.

### VI. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

### A. THE FIRST LAWSUIT (A653822/JUDGE ISRAEL).

### 1. The Brownstone Entities' Allegations.

On December 27, 2011, the Brownstone entities filed a lawsuit against Sunridge and Mendenhall in Case No. A653822, which was assigned to Judge Ronald Israel. JA 1:30–36. The allegations focused on the Brownstone entities' plan to develop approximately 46 acres of land owned by Sunridge ("the Property") into a hotel and casino. JA 1:31–33. The Brownstone entities alleged that an agreement between the parties was reached in December 2007. JA 1:33. Mendenhall and Sunridge disputed this characterization of the facts, as the term sheet was only an outline of terms. JA 1:54–58, 113. Notably, Tassinari and AVB were not parties to the first lawsuit (JA 1:30–36), were not listed as parties on the term sheet, and did not attempt to enforce the term sheet. JA 2:181–186. In the first lawsuit, the Brownstone entities alleged that Mendenhall agreed to contribute the Property in exchange for a 27% interest in

the new LLC, the developer and operating entity for the proposed hotel and casino. *Id.* In the first lawsuit, the Brownstone entities alleged breach of contract against Mendenhall and Sunridge for failure to transfer the Property in exchange for a 27% interest in the new LLC. JA 1:33–34. The claims that the Brownstone entities alleged in the first lawsuit were (1) breach of contract; (2) breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (3) unjust enrichment; and (4) declaratory relief. JA 1:30–36.

### 2. <u>Discovery on the Term Sheet.</u>

During discovery in the first lawsuit, Mendenhall and Sunridge sought information on the details of the term sheet by requesting additional information regarding the "Other Investor(s)," who agreed to contribute \$7,000,000 for a 12.6% membership interest based on the term sheet. JA 1:55, 58. Mendenhall and Sunridge deposed executives from the Brownstone entities to get information on the "Other Investor(s)" who had signed the term sheet. JA 2:131–167, 181–186.

In July 2014, Mendenhall and Sunridge deposed Anna Morrison ("Morrison") from the Brownstone entities. JA 1:64, 68–69. In this deposition, Morrison responded to questions on the "Other Investor(s)," stating, "I do believe the other investor was the Canadian group. . . I just don't know who the signer was." JA 1:68. Morrison agreed that the term sheet was "binding on all

the parties that signed it," including Mendenhall, the Brownstone entities, and "the other investor." JA 1:68–69. Morrison stated that "American Vantage Companies" did not sign the term sheet, but AVB, a subsidiary, signed the document. JA 1:69:2–8.

On July 10, 2014, as the parties were approaching the close of discovery in the first lawsuit, Mendenhall and Sunridge sent an offer of judgment to the Brownstone entities, offering \$1,200,000 to settle the claims between Mendenhall and Sunridge, on the one hand, and the Brownstone entities, on the other hand. JA 1:38–39. The day after the offer of judgment was sent, on July 11, 2014, depositions continued with the deposition of Robert Gross ("Gross"), the NRCP 30(b)(6) witness for the Brownstone entities, who was the CEO of Brownstone Gold Town, LLC in December 2007. JA 1:61, 72. Gross claimed that the "[o]ther investors would be Bob Sim from Canada. Other investors would be—would be entities through Bob Sim whether it's level ten or whatever entity he would come in with who agreed to participate." JA 1:72. Gross testified that he did not recall ever seeing a term sheet signed by Bob **Sim or his entities**, in reviewing the documents to prepare as a 30(b)(6) witness. JA 1:73:8–13. Gross explained that while he did not know who signed the "investor signature," he believed someone in "corporate," possibly "Mr. Tassinari . . . who was in the corporate office" would have an idea who signed for the investor. JA 1:73:16–23. Gross further explained that Bob Sim had "committed seven million or more," but Gross was "not sure on the signature." JA 1:75.

On July 14, 2014, four days after the offer of judgment was sent to the Brownstone entities, Tassinari was deposed. JA 1:60–62. In his deposition, Tassinari confessed that he had signed for both AVB and for the "other investor." JA 1:61. Tassinari claimed that he did not remember why he would have been the "other investor in this agreement." JA 1:61. Although the first lawsuit was designed to enforce the term sheet as a binding contract on the signatories, Tassinari said he was not committing himself to put \$7,000,000 into the project. JA 1:62. When asked if he thought "signing on behalf of other investors had any legal consequences to [him]," Tassinari stated, "Never really thought about it." JA 1:62:9. In sum, Tassinari did not think signing as another investor would have any legal ramifications or that he would be bound by his own signature. JA 1:62.

### 3. <u>Mendenhall and Sunridge Seek Leave to File an</u> <u>Amended Pleading to Allege Their Fraud Claims.</u>

Throughout the first lawsuit and when they sent the offer of judgment on July 10, 2014, Mendenhall and Sunridge believed that a Canadian investor or investment group had committed \$7,000,000 and had signed the term sheet.

JA 1:128–130; JA 2:131–167. However, Tassinari and AVB's fraud became clear at the time of Tassinari's deposition on July 14, 2014. JA 2:130. After discovering the fraud, and within the 10-day irrevocable period for the offer of judgment, Mendenhall and Sunridge filed a motion for leave to amend on order shortening time. JA 1:41–96. The motion attached a proposed amended answer to complaint, counterclaim, and third-party complaint to the motion. JA 1:81–95. This proposed amended pleading alleged claims for (1) fraud in the inducement; (2) fraud; (3) negligent misrepresentation; and (4) fraudulent omission. JA 1:93–94. The proposed amended pleading added Tassinari and AVB as new parties for the third-party complaint and included counterclaims against the Brownstone entities. JA 1:81–82. The motion for leave to amend was set for hearing on shortened time on August 7, 2014. JA 1:43.

Before the motion for leave to amend was decided, the Brownstone entities accepted the offer of judgment on July 24, 2014. JA 1:98–100. As a result, the motion to amend was never heard or decided. JA 2:206, 229. No opposition to the motion was filed, due to the acceptance of the offer of judgment. *Id*.

Prior to the dismissal of the action, the Brownstone entities filed a motion to clarify and enforce the terms of the offer of judgment. JA 1:109. Judge Israel denied this motion and, instead, dismissed the first lawsuit with prejudice.

JA 1:109:14–22. During the course of the hearing on this motion, Judge Israel commented that Mendenhall and Sunridge would have to seek a remedy for their fraud claims in "another lawsuit." JA 2:206–207.

### B. THE SECOND LAWSUIT (A708281/JUDGE BARE).

In October 2014, Mendenhall and Sunridge, as Plaintiffs, filed a lawsuit against Tassinari and AVB. JA 1:1–18. This second lawsuit related specifically to Tassinari's misrepresentations regarding the "other investor" or the "Canadian investor group" and his signing of the term sheet as the "Other Investor(s)." *Id.* The complaint in the second lawsuit alleged claims for (1) fraud in the inducement; (2) fraud; (3) negligent misrepresentation (in the alternative); and (4) fraudulent omission. JA 1:3–10.

Defendants, Tassinari and AVB, filed a motion to dismiss based upon the doctrine of claim preclusion. JA 1:19–110. In their motion to dismiss, Tassinari and AVB argued that the fraud claims in the second lawsuit "could have been brought" in the first lawsuit. JA 1:21. Plaintiffs opposed this motion and argued that these claims were not brought, nor could they have been brought, in the first lawsuit. JA 2:111–167. Plaintiffs explained that the elements for claim preclusion from *Five Star* were not satisfied. JA 2:116–120. Plaintiffs also argued that their fraud claims were not compulsory in nature because the claims had not matured. JA 2:122. In addition, NRCP 11

prevented Plaintiffs from bringing the fraud claims at the outset of the first lawsuit. JA 2:122.

#### C. THE HEARING ON DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS.

In March 2014, Judge Rob Bare heard the arguments of both parties on the motion to dismiss. JA 2:195–237. Judge Bare asked counsel for Plaintiffs whether they attempted to bring the fraud claims in the first lawsuit. JA 2:219–220. Plaintiffs explained that Judge Israel did not give them an opportunity to be heard on the motion for leave to amend, and suggested that their remedy was a new lawsuit. JA 2:200:1–11; JA 2:220:6–8. In discussing the first lawsuit during the hearing on Defendants' motion to dismiss, Judge Bare stated,

And in his wisdom, Judge Israel, in August of 2014 as I understand it, heard that Motion to Amend, part of a Motion to Amend, I guess, and said *he wouldn't prohibit them from filing another lawsuit*.

JA 2:220:5–8 (emphasis added); *see also* JA 2:207:4–7 ("You might not know the answer to this because you're not Judge Israel, but *why did he make this comment or have this allowance to bring another lawsuit*?") (emphasis added); JA 2:207:15–18 ("Why did he basically say: *Well, you can bring another lawsuit—and he didn't really do anything affirmative to*, as I understand it, *to actually clarify* or enforce anything.") (emphases added).

In the hearing on Defendants' motion to dismiss, while Judge Bare focused upon the procedural ambiguities in the first lawsuit, as to whether the

claim "could have been" brought there, he quickly passed over the other elements of the *Five Star* analysis in the hearing. For example:

MR. YOUNG [Counsel for Plaintiffs]: And I want to touch very briefly on the second element of the *Five Star* case, whether the facts that were essential are the same. The facts that were essential to the breach of contract were whether Mr. Mendenhall submitted the property to the venture as he was required to under the term sheet. That has nothing to do with whether Mr. Tassinari signed a document pledging \$7,000,000 knowing full well that he had no intention of actually giving the \$7,000,000.

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