IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ROBERT L. MENDENHALL, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND SUNRIDGE CORPORATION, A NEVADA CORPORATION,

Appellants,

vs.

RONALD TASSINARI, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND AMERICAN VANTAGE BROWNSTONE, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Supreme Court No. 68053

District Court Case No: A-14-708281-C Electronically Filed Jul 21 2016 04:33 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Nicholas J. Santoro, Esq. (NBN 532) nsantoro@santoronevada.com Oliver J. Pancheri, Esq. (NBN 7476) opancheri@santoronevada.com SANTORO WHITMIRE 10100 W. Charleston Blvd., Suite 250 Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 Tel: 702/948-8771 / Fax: 702/948-8773

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

V. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Correctly Found that the Tassinari Parties were in Privity with the Brownstone Entities.

"Contemporary courts have broadly construed the concept of privity, far beyond its literal and historic meaning, to include any situation in which the relationship between the parties is sufficiently close to supply preclusion." *Vets North, Inc. v. Libutti,* 2003 WL 21542554, at *11 (E.D.N.Y. Jan. 24, 2003). "Privity is a concept not readily susceptible of uniform definition." *Clemmer v. Hartford Ins. Co.,* 587 P.2d 1098, 1102 (Cal. 1978). Privity generally exists where there is "substantial identity" between parties, that is, when there is sufficient commonality of interest. United States v. ITT Rayonier, Inc., 627 F.2d 996, 1003 (9th Cir. 1980). When a person controls the affairs of the corporation, it is presumed that in any litigation involving that corporation, the individual has sufficient commonality of interest. See Sparks Nugget, Inc. v. Commissioner, 458 F.2d 631, 639 (9th Cir. 1972); Irwin v. Mascott, 370 F.3d 924, 929 (9th Cir. 2004) ("A close relationship between the named party and the non-party supports a finding of virtual representation."). The focus of the inquiry regarding privity is whether the party in the later action was "sufficiently close" to the party in the first action to as to justify applying preclusion principles. *Clemmer*, 587 P.2d at 1102. Substantial participation or control by the non-party in the named party's suit weighs heavily in favor of a finding of privity based upon virtual representation. See ITT Rayonier, Inc., 627 F.2d at 1003 (9th Cir. 1980) ("One who is not a party of record may be bound if he had a sufficient interest and participated in the prior action.") citing Montana v. United States, 440 U.S. 147, 153, 59 L. Ed. 2d 210, 99 S. Ct. 970 (1979).

The Mendenhall Parties were parties to both the First Action and the Second Action. The Tassinari Parties were not parties to the First Action, but the district court found that they were in privity with the Brownstone Entities, which was supported by the underlying facts in this matter. For example, American Vantage Brownstone was a party to the Term Sheet and Tassinari served as American Vantage Brownstone's Chair. JA II:0182-0186. The Term Sheet serves as the center of the dispute in both the First Action and the Second Action. Moreover, the Term Sheet expressly states that Brownstone was a subsidiary of American Vantage Brownstone. JA II:0188. Finally, the Mendenhall Parties own Proposed Amendment states that (1) Tassinari was a principal of both the Brownstone Entities as American Vantage Brownstone; and that (2) Tassinari was acting both individually and on behalf of the Brownstone Entities and American Vantage Brownstone in making representations to the Mendenhall Parties in order to induce them to execute the Term Sheet. JA I:0090. In fact, all of the allegations in the Proposed Amendment from the First Action were uniformly asserted against both the Brownstone Entities and the Tassinari Parties. *See id.*

Unsurprisingly, the district court expressly found, based upon the evidence presented, that Tassinari managed, led and was acting on behalf of the Brownstone Entities and that American Vantage Brownstone managed, led, owned and acted on behalf of the Brownstone Entities. JA II:0244-0245. These findings were sufficient to support a finding of privity.

The Mendenhall Parties argue that the law does not support a finding of privity under these facts. (Opening Brief at p. 20-25). Specifically, the Mendenhall Parties argue that different corporations are treated as separate entities and that a judgment against a corporation does not automatically include individual liability for its officers. (Opening Brief at p. 22-23). The Tassinari Parties do not quibble with these basic and obvious legal tenets. However, neither of these generic legal assertions has any bearing on a determination of privity. Whether privity exists requires a determination of the relationship between the parties and whether the operative facts between the two cases are the same.

With respect to parent and subsidiary companies, numerous courts have found privity to exist between a parent company and its subsidiary. The Ninth Circuit has repeatedly found that privity can be shown through a corporate parent and its wholly-owned subsidiary. See FDIC v. Alshuler (In re Imperial Corp. of Am.), 92 F.3d 1503, 1507-1508 (9th Cir. 1996) (finding res judicata applied to wholly-owned subsidiary of parent corporation); Lake at Las Vegas Investors Group, Inc. v. Pacific Malibu Development Corp., 933 F.2d 724, 728 (9th Cir. 1991) (upholding final judgment against parent entity acted as res judicata bar to claims against subsidiary); Salessi v. Commonwealth Land Title Ins. Co., 2013 WL 5676209, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 149766 at 23 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 16, 2013) (upholding a finding of privity between a parent company and its subsidiary). Similarly, in In re Colonial Mortgage Bankers Corp., 324 F.3d 12, 17 (1st Cir. 2003), the First Circuit Court of Appeals upheld a finding of privity between parent bank and its subsidiary. See also Airframe Sys. v. Raytheon Co., 601 F.3d 9,

13 n. 3 (1st Cir. 2010) ("[c]orporate parents and subsidiaries are generally considered identical parties for claim preclusion purposes..."). In sum, there is ample legal support for the district court's finding of privity between the Brownstone Entities and American Vantage Brownstone.

Likewise, numerous courts have found privity existing between a corporation and one of its officers. The Ninth Circuit in In re Gottheiner, 703 F.2d 1136, 1140 (9th Cir. 1983) found that privity existed between a company and its controlling shareholder to support a finding of collateral estoppel. Similarly, in Henry v. Farmer City State Bank, 808 F.2d 1228, 1235 n. 6 (7th Cir. 1986), the Seventh Circuit found that the the doctrine of res judicata operated to bar RICO claims brought against officers of a bank where a prior case involving the bank had already been adjudicated. Several other courts have reached similar conclusions. See Irwin v. Mascott, 370 F.3d 924, 930 (9th Cir. 2004) (finding privity between corporation and its primary corporate officer); Cahill v. Arthur Andersen & Co., 659 F. Supp. 1115, 1122 (1986), aff'd 822 F.2d 14 (2d Cir. 1987) ("corporations" and their officers and directors are in privity for purposes of res judicata") (quotation omitted); In re Raftery, 132 N.E.2d 864, 869 (N.Y. 1956) (corporation is in privity with its owners); JSC Sec. v. Gebbia, 4 F. Supp. 2d 243, 251 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (finding that the shareholders and/or officers were in privity with the corporation such that the prior arbitration proceeding involving the corporation precluded the subsequent lawsuit against them. Accordingly, the law also sufficiently supports the district court's finding of privity between the Brownstone Entities and Tassinari.

B. The Mendenhall Parties' Arguments Regarding Additional Discovery are Unavailing.

The Mendenhall Parties, for the first time on appeal, contend that they should have been allowed an opportunity to conduct discovery on the issue of privity prior to the district court granting the motion to dismiss. (Opening Brief at p. 25-30). The Mendenhall Parties failed to make this argument in their Opposition filed in the Second Action or at the lengthy hearing on the same and made no request under NRCP 56(f). JA II:0111-0125, 0195-0237. As such, it should not now be heard on this appeal.

This Court has previously and repeatedly held that "a point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal." *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Caroline,* 97 Nev. 49, 52-53 (1981); *see also Britz v. Consolidated Casinos Corp.,* 87 Nev. 441, 447 (1971); *Levy v. Levy,* 96 Nev. 902, 904 (1980); *Allyn v. McDonald,* 117 Nev. 907, 911 (2001). Even a de novo standard of review does not trump the general rule that a point not urged in the trial court is deemed waived and will not be considered on appeal. *See Schuck v. Signature Flight Support of Nevada, Inc.,*

126 Nev. 434, 436, 245 P.3d 542, 544 (2010) ("...a de novo standard of review does not trump the general rule that a point not urged in the trial court...is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal."). The rule that an issue raised on appeal for the first time will not be considered is not meant to be harsh, overly formalistic, or to punish litigators, but instead is meant to maintain the efficiency, fairness and integrity of the judicial system for all parties.³ Accordingly, the Mendenhall Parties should not be heard now to argue that they needed discovery on the issue of privity when no such argument was made before the district court.

Further, there is no merit to the argument that additional discovery would have yielded a different result. The Mendenhall Parties conducted discovery in the First Action regarding the very transaction (the Term Sheet) that is the subject of the Second Action. In fact, the Mendenhall Parties claim that they uncovered the alleged "fraud" relating to the Term Sheet through that discovery.⁴ Likewise, the Mendenhall Parties do not identify what specific additional discovery they would need to do on the issue of privity beyond the depositions previously conducted in

³ Oliver v. Barrick Goldstrike Mines, 111 Nev. 1338, 1344-1345, 905 P.2d 168 (1995) (Appellants cannot be allowed to raise new issues on appeal because the prevailing party had no opportunity to respond to the new issues).

⁴ The Mendenhall Parties freely admit that they were approaching the discovery cut-off when they chose to serve the Offer of Judgment on the Brownstone Entities. (Opening Brief at p. 11).
the First Action. Again, no request was made under NRCP 56(f) for further discovery and what that discovery might have shown.

To the contrary, the record has sufficient evidence regarding the relationship between American Vantage Brownstone, Tassinari and the Brownstone Entities. Just by way of example, the Term Sheet itself, which was included as an exhibit by both parties in the motion to dismiss briefing, expressly states that Brownstone is a subsidiary of American Vantage Brownstone. JA II:0182. Likewise, the Mendenhall Parties' Proposed Amendment states that Tassinari was the principal of both the Brownstone Entities and American Vantage Brownstone. JA I:0090. Finally, American Vantage Brownstone was a party to the Term Sheet and Tassinari signed for American Vantage Brownstone in his capacity as chairman. JA II:0186. Accordingly, the Mendenhall Parties' arguments concerning additional discovery and/or insufficient evidence fail.

C. Even if no Privity Existed, Claim Preclusion still Applies to this Matter under *Weddell*.

In *Weddell*, this Court modified the test for claim preclusion to, under certain circumstances, extend to defendants who were neither parties to the prior action or in privity with the parties to the action. The Court found that the prior test under *Five Star* was "overly rigid" and adopted the doctrine of nonmutual claim preclusion. *See Weddell*, 2015 Nev. LEXIS 35 at 14-15, 350 P.3d at 84-85.

Under nonmutual claim preclusion, the "party or privy" element has been modified to extend to a defendant, who although not a "party or privy," can demonstrate that he or she should have been included as a defendant in the earlier suit and the plaintiff fails to provide a "good reason" for not having done so. *See id*.

In discussing nonmutual claim preclusion, this Court cited Airframe Systems, Inc. v. Raytheon Co., 601 F.3d 9, 17 (1st Cir. 2010), which involves a scenario wherein claim preclusion applied even though the defendant was not a party or in privity with a party to the prior action. See Weddell, 2015 Nev. LEXIS 35 at 14-15, 350 P.3d at 84. Airframe Systems filed a lawsuit against a parent company and one of its subsidiaries alleging that the subsidiary had engaged in copyright infringement over a span of several years, the latter portion of which was during the time that the *current* parent owned the subsidiary. See Airframe Systems, 601 F.3d at 11-14. That lawsuit was dismissed, and Airframe Systems then filed a second suit against the subsidiary and the *former* parent company that owned the subsidiary during the earlier portion of the subsidiary's alleged infringement. See *id.* On appeal, the First Circuit was presented with the question of whether the former parent company could assert claim preclusion even though it was not in privity with the then-current parent company. See id. at 16-17. The First Circuit recognized that "privity is a sufficient but not a necessary condition for a new defendant to invoke a claim preclusion defense." Id. at 17. The court then

concluded that the former parent company could assert claim preclusion because it had a "close and significant relationship" with the current parent company. *Id.* at 17-18. Likewise, this Court cited *Gambocz v. Yelencsics*, 468 F.2d 837, 839 (3d Cir. 1978) where the Third Circuit found that a plaintiff's second lawsuit alleging a conspiracy claim against three new defendants was barred by claim preclusion where the original action was dismissed and the defendants in the second action had a "close or significant relationship" with the defendants to the original action. *Weddell*, 2015 Nev. LEXIS 35 at 14-15, 350 P.3d at 84.

As this Court stated, "when considering whether a plaintiff had 'good reasons' to justify a second suit against a new defendant, many, if not most, federal courts focus on whether the new defendant had a 'close and significant relationship' with the defendant in the first suit." *Weddell*, 2015 Nev. LEXIS 35 at 14-15, 350 P.3d at 84 n. 2. In this matter, the Tassinari Defendants shared a very close and significant relationship with the Brownstone Entities. Brownstone was a subsidiary of American Vantage Brownstone, which was also a party to the Term Sheet. JA II:0182-0186. Likewise, by the Mendenhall Parties' own allegations, Tassinari was the principal of American Vantage Brownstone and the Brownstone Entities. JA I:0090 ¶ 13. As such, the Tassinari Parties shared an even closer and more significant relationship with the Brownstone Entities than the parties in the

Airframe and *Gambocz*, cases cited by this Court in *Weddell*.⁵ Accordingly, even if the Court were to find that no privity exists between the Brownstone Entities and the Tassinari Defendants, the doctrine of nonmutual claim preclusion mandates dismissal because of the close or significant relationship between Brownstone Entities and the Tassinari Parties.

D. The District Court Correctly Found that the First Order of Dismissal was a Valid Final Judgment.

The First Order of Dismissal was a valid final judgement. Under NRCP 41, a dismissal with prejudice arising from the acceptance of an offer of judgment pursuant to NRCP 68(d) and NRS 17.115(2)(a) holds preclusive effect. NRCP 41(b) provides that "a dismissal under this subdivision and any dismissal not provided for in this rule, other than a dismissal for lack of jurisdiction, or improper venue, or for failure to join a party under Rule 19, operates as an adjudication upon the merits." A dismissal arising out of NRCP 68(d) and NRS 17.115(2)(a) falls

⁵ The Mendenhall Parties argue that that the deposition of Gross "bound the Brownstone Entities to the lack of knowledge and lack of representation of Tassinari or [American Vantage] for the purpose of privity analysis." (Opening Brief at p. 29). However, the Mendenhall Parties' citation in support of this assertion is a portion of Gross's transcript wherein he was asked if there was another signed term sheet. JA I:0074. The citation contains no question or answer concerning the relationship between Tassinari and the Brownstone Entities or the relationship between American Vantage Brownstone and the Brownstone Entities. *See id.* The Mendenhall Parties' evidentiary assertion for a lack of privity fails to support a finding of a lack of privity and also fails to overcome the evidence demonstrating privity between the Tassinari Parties and the Brownstone Entities.

within the "any dismissal not provided for in this rule" language and operates as an adjudication upon the merits.

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